DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE Case No. 21-0007

IP.		$\overline{\mathcal{D}}$
F	APR - 6 2021	IJ
	EDYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA	

(Circuit Case No. 18-C-327)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

CONTEMPORARY GALLERIES OF WEST VIRGINIA, INC.,

Petitioner,

FILE COPY

• v.

RIGGS COMMERCIAL REALTY, LLC,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

On Appeal from December 8, 2020 Order of Judgment Denying New Trial in Case No. 18-C-327 Circuit Court of Kanawha County Before the Hon. Carrie Webster

> William V. DePaulo, Esq. #995 860 Court Street North, Suite 300 Lewisburg, WV 24901 Tel: 304-342-5588 Fax: 866-850-1501 william.depaulo@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in denying Petitioner's motion for a directed verdict after Respondent rested at trial, and reaffirming that ruling in the Order entered on July 10, 2020 denying Petitioner's motion for new trial:
 - a. Where, WV Code §30-40-25, entitled "Collection of compensation" expressly provides that in suits seeking recovery of a real estate broker's fees:

<u>No person may bring or maintain any action</u> in any court of this state for the recovery of compensation for the performance of any act or service for which a broker's license is required, <u>without alleging and proving that he</u> <u>or she was the holder of a valid broker's license at all times during the</u> <u>performance or rendering of any act or service.</u>

- b. And where, in its case in chief, Respondent presented no evidence none whatsoever purporting to show that Respondent was holder of a valid broker's license <u>at any time</u>, let alone at all times during the performance or rendering of any act or service.
- 2. The Circuit Court abused its discretion in granting Respondent's motion to reopen its case in chief, to permit introduction of documentary evidence purporting to prove that Respondent was a licensed real estate at all times relevant to the case, on the ground that Petitioner was not "surprised" by the introduction of such evidence:
 - a. Where, the test for granting a motion to reopen a case is "surprise" to the Respondent – not the Petitioner – and the effect of allowing Respondent to reopen its case was unfairly to give the Respondent a second chance at proving its case. Respondent cannot plausibly claim "surprise;" its counsel is charged with knowledge of the law, prior to filing its action, and Respondent failed to satisfy its burden of proof with respect to clearly applicable law – W. Va. Code §30-40-25.
 - b. And where, the Court's ruling permitting Respondent to reopen its case cannot be justified on the theory that the case "should be decided on its merits;" the "merits of the case" were in fact settled once the Plaintiff rested without

satisfying the explicit statutory mandate at WV Code §30-40-25. The judicial policy in favor of deciding a case "on the merits" does not warrant a trial judge selectively providing "back up" to counsel for one party by gratuitously giving counsel a "mulligan." The Court's decision to reopen the Plaintiff's case was arbitrary and an abuse of discretion which served no purpose of justice, other than to give the Plaintiff a second bite at the apple, with which to try, one more time, to prove its case.

- The Circuit Court erred in denying Petitioner's renewed motion for directed verdict, at the end of Respondent's reopened case:
 - a. Where, even after the Court inappropriately reopened Respondent's case, the Respondent failed to meet the explicit evidentiary requirement of W. Va. Code §30-40-5 which requires that a broker prove it was licensed <u>at all times during</u> the performance or rendering of any act or service.
 - b. Where, the services for which Respondent sought compensation were purported provided only between September 2016 and the closing of the real estate sale in the Spring of 2017.
 - c. And where, in its reopened case, the Respondent introduced real estate licenses, covering the periods: (a) July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016, (b) July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018 and (c) July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020,
 - d. But where critically Respondent failed to introduce any license for the period from July 1, 2016 to June 30 2017, the time frame in which the Plaintiff alleged that it "perform[ed] or render[ed] [the] act or service" for which the suit was filed, as expressly required by W. Va. Code §30-40-5.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

On March 18, 2018, Respondent Riggs filed a Complaint (**App. at 5**) seeking to recover brokerage fees from Petitioner Contemporary Galleries as compensation to Riggs for purported real estate brokerage services incident to: (a) the sale of a building at 1210 Smith Street, Charleston, W.Va., and (b) the lease of a building in the Kanawha City neighborhood of Charleston. In its Answer ((**App. at 11**) Petitioner Contemporary Galleries denied any obligation, contractual or otherwise, to pay any brokerage fees to Respondent Riggs.

In the course of a two-day trial – and in the absence of any signed contract with Petitioner – Respondent Riggs offered hearsay evidence in support of a promissory estoppel theory of recovery, which the Circuit Court admitted in light of this Court's invalidation of the so-called dead man's rule in *State Farm Casualty Company v. Prinz*, 231 W. Va. 96, 743 S.E.2d 907 (2013).

In its case in chief, Respondent Riggs introduced no licenses purporting to show that it was licensed to engage in real estate brokerage activity at any time. After counsel for Riggs rested, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries moved for a directed verdict (**App. at 48**) in light of the requirements of W. Va. Code §30-40-25 which requires that a broker "allege and prove" it possessed licensed to sell real estate "<u>at all times during the performance or rendering of any act or service."</u>

The Circuit Court denied Petitioner Contemporary Galleries motion for directed verdict (**App. at 99**), and, over Petitioner's objection, (**App. at 88**) granted Respondent Riggs' motion to reopen its case in order to present evidence of real estate broker's licenses (**App. at 104**).

In the reopened case, Riggs submitted copies of licenses covering the periods: (a) July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016 (App. at 137), (b) July 1, 2017 to June 2018 (App. at 138) and (c) July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 (App. at 139).

- 6 -

However, the Circuit Court noted that Respondent Riggs failed to introduce any license for the period from July 2016 to June 2017 during which it purportedly provided real estate services to Petitioner Contemporary Galleries (**App. at 144**).

Although Respondent's owner argued that a notation of "01/29/2016" and other undecipherable codes on her licenses in evidence (App at 137-139) meant that she was licensed continuously from January 29, 2016 forward, Respondent's owner also conceded on cross examination that the notation did not in fact say that:

- Q Right, but it doesn't say that on here; does it?
- A No, but that's my testimony that it is.
- Q I understand. It doesn't say that on here; does it?
- A It does not.
- Q All right.

(App. at 119-120).

At the end of Respondent's reopened case, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries renewed its objection to reopening the case, and its motion for directed verdict (**App. at 121**); the Circuit Court denied Petitioner's objection and motion (**App. at 121**).

Upon submission to the jury, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Respondent Riggs in the amounts of \$102,000 and 14,760, on the Smith Street and Kanawha City counts, respectively, for a total of \$116,760, plus interest (**App. at 147-148, 165**). And order of Judgment (**App. at 148**) was entered on July 10, 2020.

On July 15, 2020, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries filed a timely motion for new trial (App. at 150) which the Circuit Court denied in an email ruling dated November 5, 2020 (App. at 166). An order of judgment was entered on December 8, 2020 (App. at 169), and a timely Notice of Appeal was filed on January 6, 2021. This brief is timely filed under the terms of this Court's January 6, 2021 scheduling order.

B. Statement of Facts

On March, 2018, Respondent Riggs Commercial Realty, LLC (Riggs) filed a Complaint (**App. at 5**) in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia, alleging that Petitioner Contemporary Galleries of West Virginia, Inc. (Contemporary Galleries) had breached a contract between the parties which, Respondent alleged, required Petitioner Contemporary Galleries to pay a brokerage fee to Respondent Riggs if Riggs obtained a purchaser of a building owner by Contemporary Galleries at 1210 Smith Street in Charleston, W. Va. (**App. at 7**)

In a separate count (**App. at 6**), Respondent Riggs alleged that Petitioner Contemporary Galleries breached a separate contract requiring Petitioner to pay Riggs a fee if Riggs obtained a tenant for a rental property owned by Contemporary Galleries in Kanawha City neighborhood of Charleston, WV.

Alternatively, Riggs' Complaint sought relief for both the sale and lease transaction under a theory of promissory estoppel (App. at 9).

In its Answer and Counterclaim (**App. at 11**), Petitioner Contemporary Galleries denied that the parties had entered into any contract, denied that Riggs had brought about either the 1210 Smith Street sale or the Kanawha City lease, and denied that Respondent Riggs was entitled to any relief under a promissory estoppel theory. Petitioner Contemporary Galleries admitted that the property at 1210 Smith Street had been sold (**App. at 30**) but denied that the sale was "brought about by the efforts of [Respondent Riggs]." Similarly, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries admitted that the Kanawha City property had been leased but denied that the lease was "brought about by the efforts of [Respondent Riggs]" (**App. at 13**). Further, in its Answer, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries expressly denied Respondent Riggs allegation that it was a licensed real estate broker. To be sure, in Paragraph 4 of its Answer, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries stated that:

"Defendant has no knowledge of Plaintiff's status as a licensed broker of real estate but for purposes of this Answer denies same and demands strict proof thereof."

(App. at 12) at ¶ 4 (emphasis added).

In the course of discovery, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries sought and obtained from Respondent Riggs copies of proposed contracts which, if signed by Petitioner Contemporary Galleries, would have created contractual obligations. Neither Respondent Riggs proposed sales contract for 1210 Smith Street (**App. at 28**), nor its proposed lease contract for the Kanawha City property (**App. at 21**) were signed by anyone, specifically not by Petitioner Contemporary Galleries or anyone acting on its behalf.

Respondent Riggs was, in the absence of signed contracts, forced at trial to rely exclusively on its "promissory estoppel" theory of recovery. Leo J. Russell, Jr., the co-owner, Vice President and co-founder of Petitioner Contemporary Galleries, with whom Respondent Riggs claimed to have dealt regarding both the Smith Street and Kanawha City propertied, died before trial (**App. at 122, 170**). Fortuitously for Respondent Riggs, the so-called "*Dead Man's Rule*" – which would have foreclosed any hearsay testimony regarding Riggs dealings with Leo Russell – was overturned by this Court in *State Farm Casualty Company v. Prinz*, 231 W. Va. 96, 743 S.E.2d 907 (2013).

As a consequence of the *Prinz* case, Respondent Riggs was able to introduce extensive self-serving evidence on multiple purported efforts to sale or lease the properties in question and, purported verbal reassurances from the deceased Leo Russell to compensate Respondent Riggs for

those efforts. Although not able to provide live testimony, Leo Russell clearly never signed the contracts proposed by Respondent Riggs (**App. at 23, 26, 29**), and no witness from the purchaser of 1210 Smith Street, or the lessee of the Kanawha City property, testified to corroborate any portion of Respondent Riggs' testimony.

Mary Russell, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries' co-owner, co-founder and sister of Leo Russell, had no interactions with Riggs in the course of its discussions with her brother, Leo Russell, and was consequently not in a position to contradict Riggs' self-serving testimony (App. at 121-122).

In the course of its case in chief, Respondent Riggs did not introduce any real estate license - *none whatsoever* – purporting to authorize it to act as a real estate broker at any time, in particular not in the time frame from September 2016 to spring 2017, when it purportedly acted as a real estate broker on behalf of Petitioner Contemporary Galleries.

Upon announcing that it rested its case, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries moved for a directed verdict (**App. at 48**) on the basis of the mandatory requirements of W. Va. Code §30-40-25 that a party seeking compensation as a real estate broker:

<u>No person may bring or maintain any action</u> in any court of this state for the recovery of compensation for the performance of any act or service for which a broker's license is required, <u>without *alleging*</u> *and proving* that he or she was the holder of a valid broker's license at all times during the performance or rendering of any act or service.

W. Va. Code §30-40-25(emphasis added).

Although Riggs' counsel initially argued that W. Va. Code did not require proof of licensing by introduction of an actual license, the Circuit Court stated that, absent such evidence, counsel for Petitioner Contemporary Galleries would have a clear ground for summary reversal of

any verdict in Respondent Riggs' favor: "I'm not going to set myself up for clear error..." (App. at 79). Further, the Circuit Court granted Respondent Riggs a motion to reopen its case in chief over Petitioner Contemporary Galleries' objection (App. at 99).

In its reopened case, Respondent Riggs introduced copies of three real estate licenses covering the periods: (a) July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016 (App. at 137), (b) July 1, 2017 to June 2018 (App. at 138) and (c) July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2018 (App. at 138).

Critically, Respondent Riggs, despite the opportunity presented by the Circuit Court's decision to reopen the case, failed again to introduce any license for the period from July 2016 to June 2017, i.e., in particular in November, 2016, when it purportedly provided real estate services to Petitioner Contemporary Galleries pertaining to 1210 Smith Street (**App. at 6**).

At the end of the reopened case, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries renewed its objection to the reopening of Respondent Riggs' case and, in particular, renewed its motion for a directed verdict on the basis of Respondent Riggs' failure to introduce a license for the July 2016 through June 2017, the requirement of W. Va. Code §30-4-5 being that a plaintiff produce evidence of a valid broker's license at all times during the performance or rendering of any act or service. (App. at 121).

The Circuit Court denied Petitioner Contemporary Galleries' renewed motions (App. at 121) and, upon submission of the case to the jury on the uncontradicted, self-serving hearsay evidence of Riggs' employees and principals, the jury returned a verdict in a favor of Riggs awarding damages in the amounts of \$102,760 and \$14,760 (App. at 148, 165), respectively, for the counts relating to the 1210 Smith Street property and the Kanawha City property.

On July 12, 2020, Petitioner Contemporary Galleries filed a timely motion for new trial (App. at 150) which the Circuit Court denied in an email ruling dated November 5, 2020 (App.

at 166). An order of judgment was entered on December 8, 2020 (App. at 169), and a timely Notice of Appeal was filed on January 6, 2021. This brief is timely filed under the terms of this Court's January 6, 2021 scheduling order.

•

.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Because Respondent Riggs, in its case in chief, introduced no real estate license purporting to show that Respondent was licensed to sell real estate at any time – let alone at the time between July 1, 2016 and June 30, 2017 during the purported performance of real estate services for which compensation was sought – Petitioner Contemporary Galleries was entitled to a directed verdict, as a matter of law, under the explicit language of W. Va. Code §30-40-25, entitled "Collection of compensation" which expressly provides that in suits seeking recovery of broker's fees:

<u>No person may bring or maintain any action</u> in any court of this state for the recovery of compensation for the performance of any act or service for which a broker's license is required, without alleging and proving that he or she was the holder of a valid broker's license at all times during the performance or rendering of any act or service.

W. Va. Code §30-40-25 (emphasis added).

2. Although a trial court is invested with discretion regarding a motion to reopen a case to admit new evidence, that discretion is not plenary, and is reviewable as an abuse of discretion. Here, the primary test for granting a motion to reopen a case is "surprise" to the Respondent – not as the trial court ruled, absence of surprise to the Petitioner. The trial court abused its discretion here by allowing Respondent to reopen its case, without any showing of surprise on Respondent's part.

As a matter of law, Respondent cannot claim "surprise" when it and its counsel are charged with knowledge of the law, prior to filing its action, and failed to satisfy its burden of proof with respect to the elements of a *prima facie* case, W. Va. Code §30-40-25. The trial court's decision to reopen evidence here was an arbitrary abuse of discretion; effectively nothing more than a

"mulligan," a gratuitous gift, unfairly conferring on the Respondent a second chance at proving its case.

3. Petitioner was, as a matter of law, entitled to its renewed motion for directed verdict, at the close of Respondent's reopened case, because Respondent failed to meet the explicit evidentiary requirement of W. Va. Code §30-40-5 which requires that a broker "allege and prove" it was licensed at all times during the performance or rendering of any act or service. The services for which Respondent sought compensation were purportedly provided only between September 2016 and the closing of the real estate sale in the early spring of 2017. In its reopened case, the Respondent introduced real estate licenses, covering the periods: (a) July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016, (b) July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018 and (c) July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020.

Critically, despite the trial court's decision to permit it to reopen its case in chief, and after being afforded an opportunity overnight to collect the relevant documentary evidence, Respondent failed to produce a real estate license for the period from July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017 – the time frame in which the Plaintiff alleged that it "perform[ed] or render[ed] [the] act or service" for which the suit was filed – as expressly required by W. Va. Code §30-40-25.

As noted by the Circuit Court,

It's also undisputed that she did not testify that she was or had or was the holder of a valid broker's license at all times during the performance or rendering of any act of service.

(App. at 95) (emphasis added).

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is not necessary in this case. The decision below in this case should instead be summarily reversed on the basis of W. Va. Code §30-40-25, for the simple reason that Respondent failed – both in its case in chief and again in its reopened case – to satisfy the mandatory provisions of W. Va. Code §30-40-25 which required Respondent to produce a real estate license authorizing it to perform real estate services in the time frame from September, 2016 to the Spring of 2017, the time when it purportedly provided real estate services.

No amount of argument can alter the unambiguous facts that:

•

(a) Respondent rested its case in chief without introducing any license to engage in real estate brokerage activities, at any time;

(b) Respondent cannot plausibly claim surprise justifying reopening its case, as to the requirements of a *prima facie* case for broker's fees, and

(c) Even in the reopened case, Respondent failed again to introduce evidence of real estate brokerage license for the year July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017 when the brokerage services for which compensation was sought were purportedly provided.

Nor is any argument necessary to establish that the only surprise here related to knowledge of the law, not unfair surprise as to unanticipated facts.

ARGUMENT

1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

.•

C. Rule 50 Motions for Directed Verdict Are Reviewed De Novo As Questions of Law

This Court to reviews the circuit court's denial of Petitioner's motion for judgment as a

matter of law pursuant to Rule 50(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. In Wheeling

Park Commission v. Dattoli, 237 W. Va. 275, 787 SE2d 546 (2016), held that:

<u>This Court applies "a de novo standard of review to the ... denial of a preverdict ... motion for judgment as a matter of law."</u> *Gillingham v. Stephenson*, 209 W.Va. 741, 745, 551 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2001). We also have indicated that a motion for "judgment as a matter of law should be granted at the close of the evidence when, after considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmovant, only one reasonable verdict is possible." *Waddy v. Riggleman*, 216 W.Va. 250, 255, 606 S.E.2d 222, 227 (2004), quoting *Yates v. University of West Virginia Bd. Of Trs.*, 209 W.Va. 487, 493, 549 S.E.2d 681, 687 (2001).

787 S.E.2d 549-550 (emphasis added).

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