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

No person may bring or maintain any action in any court of this state for the recovery of compensation for the performance of any act or service for which a broker's license is required, without alleging and proving that he or she was the holder of a valid broker's license at all times during the performance or rendering of any act or service...

Upon close of Riggs' case in chief, Contemporary

Galleries moved the Circuit Court for a directed verdict based on Riggs failure to allege and prove that it held a valid real estate broker's license at all times during the rendition of services to Contemporary Galleries as required by W. Va. Code § 30-40-25. Riggs did in fact provide a legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find that it alleged and proved that it was the valid holder of a real estate broker's license at all times during the rendition of services to Contemporary Galleries. Riggs' Complaint alleged that it was "duly licensed to conduct business in West Virginia as a real estate broker." App. at p. 5 ¶ 4. During the testimony of Angel Moore, Riggs' owner and agent, she testified that she was a real

estate broker and such testimony was not rebutted by Contemporary Galleries. App. at p. 41.

W. Va. Code § 30-40-25 is meant to preclude "the bringing or maintaining of a civil action in the courts of this state as a penalty for an individual or entity not being properly licensed." Timber Ridge v. Hunt Country Asphalt, 222 W. Va. 784, 788, 671 S.E.2d 789, 793 (2008). The statute is not meant to preclude a duly licensed broker from otherwise obtaining its rightful fee, but to discourage unlicensed brokers from operating in this state.

It should be noted that Contemporary Galleries is not arguing that Riggs was not a licensed broker at the time it rendered services to Contemporary Galleries, only that it did not introduce enough evidence to prove it had a broker's license at that time. The great weight of case law provides that a case should be decided on its merits. In the Interest of Moss, 170 W. Va. 543, 551, 295 S.E.2d 33, 41-42 (1982).

The amount of proof required by W. Va. Code § 30-40-25 has never been interpreted by this Court. The statute fails to articulate what amount of "proof" is necessary and does not require any "magic words" to amount to constitute sufficient proof. Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to Riggs, the nonmoving party, a reasonable jury could consider the evidence provided by Riggs to be sufficient to find that it was a

licensed real estate broker at all times relevant. The issue of whether the evidence was sufficient was an issue of fact for the jury to decide, and by it's verdict clearly decided to give credence to Riggs' evidence.

B. The Court did not abuse its discretion by allowing Riggs to reopen its case to admit additional evidence that it was a licensed real estate broker at all times service was rendered to Contemporary Galleries.

Contemporary Galleries' claims that the Circuit Court abused its discretion by allowing Riggs to reopen its case to admit addition evidence that it was a licensed real estate broker.

Though Riggs asserted at trial that the allegations and evidence thereto introduced proved that it was a broker at all times during its rendition of services to Contemporary Galleries, it moved the Court to reopen its case in chief to provide additional evidence. Upon motion made by Riggs, the Circuit Court reopened Riggs' case in chief and allowed for further evidence to be presented on the matter of Riggs' broker's license.

Contemporary Galleries' motion for directed verdict was denied.

Contemporary Galleries argues that the Court abused its

discretion by reopening Riggs' case in chief to allow it the opportunity to introduce further evidence to prove it was a licensed broker. A motion to reopen a case lies within the sound discretion of the court:

'Whether a motion to reopen a case should be granted after the moving party has rested lies within the sound discretion of the court . . . . ' Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Johnson, 159 W. Va. 682, 226 S.E.2d 442 (1976). 'It is within the sound discretion of the court in the furtherance of the interests of justice to permit either party, after it has rested, to reopen the case for the purposes of offering further evidence and unless that discretion is abused the action of the trial court will not be disturbed.' Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Fischer, 158 W. Va. 72, 211 S.E.2d 666 (1974); see also State v. Daggett, 167 W. Va. 411, 280 S.E.2d 545 (1981). 'The court is not justified in closing the case until all the evidence offered in good faith and necessary to the end of justice has been heard . . . When in doubt, reopen.' State v. Daggett, supra, at 553. Reopening may be ordered on motion of either party. State v. Fischer supra, at 667. The basic reason for denying a motion to reopen is to avoid unfair surprise to one of the parties.

<u>In the Interest of Moss</u>, 170 W. Va. 543, 551, 295 S.E.2d 33, 41-42 (1982).

In Moore, Kelly & Reddish, Inc. v. Shannondale, Inc., the court properly allowed defendant to reopen its case after both parties had rested to admit further evidence and testimony:

After both parties had rested, the plaintiff made a motion for a directed verdict asserting, among other grounds, that the landowner had failed to prove the necessity and reasonableness of the amount alleged to have been expended in repairing and restoring the swimming pool. The court thereupon granted Shannondale permission to reopen the case and to permit further testimony concerning the reasonableness and necessity of the costs incurred in the repair and restoration of the swimming pool.

Whether a plaintiff will be allowed to introduce further evidence after the taking of testimony has been concluded is ordinarily within the discretion of the trial court and the exercise of such discretion will rarely be ground for reversal. Payne v. Kinder, 147 W. Va. 352, 362, 127 S. E. 2d 726, 734 (1962); Edmiston v. Wilson, 146 W. Va. 511, pt. 10 syl., 120 S. E. 2d 491 (1961); Janssen v.

Carolina Lumber Company, 137 W. Va. 561, pt. 1 syl., 73 S. E. 2d 12 (1952); Weaver v. Wheeling Traction Company, 91 W. Va. 528, pt. 4 syl., 114 S. E. 131 (1922); 88 C. J. S., Trial, Section 106, page 221.

Moore, Kelly & Reddish, Inc. v. Shannondale, Inc., 152 W. Va. 549, 559, 165 S.E.2d 113, 120 (1968).

"The basic reason for denying a motion to reopen is to avoid unfair surprise to one of the parties." Moss, supra.

In State v. Fischer, after the defense moved the trial court for a directed verdict, the trial court permitted the prosecution to reopen the case in order to place before the jury the full meaning of a witness' testimony. Id. at 78. This Court noted that it "is particularly appropriate in this case for the reason that the defendant had not yet presented any of its evidence and there was no peril of surprise which the defendant would not have an opportunity to answer." Id.

Contemporary Galleries cannot claim to be surprised that Riggs would move the Court to reopen its case because it was a natural response to Contemporary Galleries' motion for a directed verdict. Contemporary Galleries had not yet presented any evidence, so there was no peril of "surprise" that it would not have an opportunity to answer. The broker licenses introduced into evidence by Riggs are of no surprise: West Virginia real estate broker licenses are public records and Angel Moore had already testified that she was a licensed broker.

Unfair surprise to one of the parties is a reason to deny a motion to reopen a case. In the Interest of Moss, 170 W. Va. 543, 551, 295 S.E.2d 33, 41-42 (1982). The trial court did not deny Riggs' motion to reopen its case; the motion to reopen was granted. Surprise to Riggs is of no moment because it was the movant to reopen the case. It is "within the sound discretion of the court in the furtherance of the interests of justice" to permit reopening of a case by either party, after that party has rested, for further admission of evidence. State v. Fischer, 158 W. Va. 72, 211 S.E.2d 666 (1974).

The great weight of case law provides that a case should be decided on its merits. Moss, supra. Contemporary Galleries portrays the Circuit Court's grant of Riggs' motion to reopen as giving Riggs' a "mulligan", but that is not the case. Permitting Riggs to reopen its case was in the interests justice and allowed the case to be decided on its merits. The Circuit Court was justified under West Virginia law in reopening Riggs' case in chief to allow it to introduce additional evidence. Contemporary Galleries' argument that the Circuit Court abused its discretion in reopening Riggs' case in chief has no basis in fact or law.

Finally, Contemporary Galleries claims that Riggs did not introduce into evidence a brokerage license for Angel Moore that was active during the period of September 2016 through early

spring 2017, during which the events concerning this litigation took place. This is false. After this Court reopened Riggs' case in chief, Riggs put into evidence Angel Moore's broker licenses for all years beginning on January 29, 2016, the date of Ms.

Moore's first licensure, through June 30, 2020. App. at pp. 137-139. Ms. Moore testified that she has been licensed as a broker in West Virginia since January 29, 2016, and has been so licensed at all times since. Ms. Moore held an active West Virginia broker license at all times during the events concerning this litigation and at all times since her first licensure. Contemporary

Galleries introduced no evidence that Ms. Moore did not hold an active broker license. Riggs has met the requirements of W. Va.

Code § 30-40-25 and has proven to a jury that it was a licensed broker at all times relevant.

## C. The Court did not err by denying Contemporary Galleries' renewed motion for directed verdict.

Contemporary Galleries' claims that the Circuit Court erred by not granting Contemporary Galleries' renewed motion for directed verdict.

After reopening its case in chief, Riggs submitted

Angel Moore's broker's licenses into evidence and took additional
testimony from Angel Moore. Contemporary Galleries argues that

Angel Moore's licenses and her testimony are not sufficient proof
that she was a licensed real estate broker at all times during
the rendition of services to Contemporary Galleries as required

by W. Va. Code § 30-40-25. Contemporary Galleries argues that no license was produced for the period of July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017, the time in which Riggs rendered services to Contemporary Galleries. This is false.

The first brokerage license entered into evidence states that Angela Rae Moore, Riggs Commercial Realty, LLC is "duly authorized to operate from the broker's business address until June 30, 2016..." and in the top right hand corner of the license it states "2015-2016." App. at p. 137. This license does not provide a beginning date of the license, however, it does show the date "01/29/2016", which Angel Moore testified was the date she was initially licensed.

The second brokerage license entered into evidence states that Angela Rae Moore, Riggs Commercial Realty, LLC is "duly authorized to operate pursuant to WV Code Chapter 30, Article 40 until June 30, 2018..." and in the top right hand corner of the license it states "2017-2018." App. at p. 138. This license also does not provide a beginning date, but again shows the date Angel Moore was initially licensed on "01/29/2016."

The third brokerage license entered into evidence states that Angela Rae Moore, Riggs Commercial Realty, LLC is "duly authorized to operate pursuant to WV Code Chapter 30, Article 40 until June 30, 2020..." and in the top right hand corner of the license it states "2019-2020." App. at p. 139. This

license does not provide a beginning date, but again shows the date Angel Moore was initially licensed on "01/29/2016."

Angel Moore testified that she has been a continuously licensed real estate broker since she became licensed on January 29, 2016. App. at pp. 110, 118. Contemporary Galleries provided no evidence that Angel Moore's broker's license has ever lapsed, been revoked, or forfeited at any time since she was initially licensed. The amount of proof required by W. Va. Code § 30-40-25 has never been interpreted by this Court, and as discussed above, the statute fails to articulate what amount of "proof" is necessary. The question whether Riggs proved that it held a valid broker's license was a question of fact for the jury.

Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to Riggs, the nonmoving party, a reasonable jury could, and actually did, consider the evidence provided by Riggs to be sufficient to prove that it was a licensed real estate broker. The Circuit Court did not err in denying the renewed motion for directed verdict.

# D. The Court did not abuse its discretion by denying Contemporary Galleries' motion for new trial.

Contemporary Galleries does not separate its arguments that the denial of its renewed motion for directed verdict and its motion for new trial were erroneous as a matter of law.

However, unlike de novo review of the denial of the directed

verdict, the standard of review for a denial of a new trial is abuse of discretion.

When a trial judge vacates a jury verdict and awards a new trial pursuant to Rule 59 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, the trial judge has the authority to weigh the evidence and consider the credibility of the witnesses. If the trial judge finds the verdict is against the clear weight of the evidence, is based on false evidence or will result in a miscarriage of justice, the trial judge may set aside the verdict, even if supported by substantial evidence, and grant a new trial. A trial judge's decision to award a new trial is not subject to appellate review unless the trial judge abuses his or her discretion. Syl. Pt. 3, in part, In re State Public Building Asbestos Litigation, 193 W.Va. 119, 454 S.E.2d 413 (1994); Syl. Pt. 2, Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., Inc., 194 W.Va. 97, 459 S.E.2d 374 (1995).

Puszkarczuk v. 340 Def. Range & Training Ctr., Ltd. Liab. Co., No. 15-0130, 2016 W. Va. LEXIS 213, at \*7-8 (Apr. 8, 2016).

In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to support a jury verdict the court should:

(1) consider the evidence most favorable to the prevailing party; (2) assume that all conflicts in the evidence were resolved by the jury in favor of the prevailing party; (3) assume as proved all facts which the prevailing party's evidence tends to prove; and (4) give to the prevailing party the benefit of all favorable inferences which reasonably may be drawn from the facts proved. Syl. Pt. 5, Orr v. Crowder, 173 W.Va. 335, 315 S.E.2d 593 (1983).

<u>Id.</u> at \*8.

In it's order, the Circuit Court found that "the jury reviewed the evidence and rendered a judgment consistent with finding Ms. Moore was duly licensed during the requisite period."

App. at p. 172. In considering all evidence, conflicts, facts,

and inferences in favor of Riggs, it was clear to the Circuit

Court that the jury verdict should not be disturbed. The Circuit

Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Contemporary

Galleries a new trial under these circumstances.

E. Any arguments regarding hearsay are not properly before this Court because such arguments were not included in Contemporary Galleries' assignments of error and the record before this Court is insufficient.

Contemporary Galleries mentions in it's Brief that it believes that the Circuit Court improperly admitted evidence of statements made by Leo Russell, deceased owner and agent of Contemporary Galleries, because it was hearsay. Contemporary Galleries did not include this claim in its assignments of error in its Notice of Appeal or Brief. This Court has repeatedly held that: "A skeletal 'argument,' really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim. Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs." Carr v. Veach, 851 S.E.2d 519, 524 n.3, 2020 W. Va. LEXIS 792, 11 n.3 (W. Va. 2020).

"The statement of the assignments of error will be deemed to include every subsidiary question fairly comprised therein."

"Issues not raised on appeal or merely mentioned in passing are deemed waived." Canterbury v. Laird, 221 W. Va. 453, 655 S.E.2d 199 (2007). "In its discretion, the Court may consider a plain error not among the assignments of error but evident from the record and otherwise within its jurisdiction to decide." W. Va.

R. App. Proc. R. 10(c). In the case at bar, Contemporary

Galleries did not file a transcript of the alleged hearsay

testimony as a part of the record. Because it was not claimed as
an assignment of error, and the record is insufficient to

consider this claim, it is not properly before this court.

Nevertheless, Riggs responds to these hearsay allegations to

preserve its rights.

That said, the Circuit Court did not err in finding that the statements were not hearsay.

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